



In the Matter of:

KEITH KLOPFENSTEIN,

ARB CASE NO. 04-149

COMPLAINANT,

ALJ CASE NO. 04-SOX-11

v.

DATE: May 31, 2006

**PCC FLOW TECHNOLOGIES HOLDINGS,
INC. and ALLEN PARROTT,**

RESPONDENTS.

BEFORE: THE ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW BOARD

Appearances:

For the Complainant:

**Marc E. Grossberg, Esq., Stephen F. Fink, Esq., *Thompson & Knight L.L.P.,
Houston, Texas***

For the Respondents:

Samuel E. Hooper, Esq., *Neel & Hooper, P.C., Houston, Texas*

FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

This case arises under the employee protection provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (the Act or the SOX).¹ Keith Klopfenstein filed a complaint on July 3, 2003, alleging

¹ 18 U.S.C.A. § 1514A (West Supp. 2005). Title VIII of the SOX is designated the Corporate and Criminal Fraud Accountability Act of 2002. Section 806, the employee protection provision, protects employees who provide information to a covered employer or a Federal agency or Congress relating to alleged violations of 18 U.S.C.A. §§ 1341 (mail fraud), 1343 (wire, radio, TV fraud), 1344 (bank fraud) or 1348 (securities fraud), or any rule or regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any provision of federal law relating to fraud against shareholders. 68 Fed. Reg. 31864 (May 28, 2003). Department of Labor implementing regulations are found at 29 C.F.R. Part 1980 (2005).

that “his former employer ... and its representative, Allen Parrott” retaliated against him in violation of the SOX. On July 6, 2004, a Department of Labor Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) issued a Recommended Decision and Order recommending that the complaint be dismissed.

As explained below, the ALJ erred in his legal analysis of two of the four contested elements (coverage and causation). He did not make findings on the other two elements (protected activity and knowledge). We therefore remand for further proceedings.

BACKGROUND

We briefly summarize the factual background here, and provide additional details in the discussion section.²

A. The Parties

Klopfenstein began employment as Vice President of Operations for Flow Products, Inc. (Flow Products or Flow) in Brookshire, Texas, near Houston, on May 14, 2001. On November 21, 2002 he became Vice President of Strategic Operations. Klopfenstein oversaw three business units: PACO Pumps (PACO), General Valve, and Johnston Pumps. R. D. & O. at 4; T. 292; R. Motion for Summary Decision, Mar. 10, 2004, at 3 n.2.³ His primary responsibilities included global operations process optimization, global supply chain development and optimization, and global inventory management. CX 1 at 25, R. D. & O. at 4. After November 21, 2002 Klopfenstein was no longer directly responsible for the shipping operations at Brookshire, but he did become responsible for inventory planning. R. D. & O. at 4.

Flow Products is a division of PCC Flow Technologies, LP, a limited partnership wholly owned by PCC FT I LLC and PCC FT II LLC, which in turn are wholly-owned subsidiaries of PCC Flow Technologies Holdings, Inc. (Holdings). Holdings is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Precision Castparts Corp. (PCC). PCC is a company with a class of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 78l.

² Because this summary reflects our review of the entire record, it includes certain apparently undisputed facts that were not mentioned in the ALJ’s opinion. Our reference to this evidence does not indicate that we have found any particular facts beyond those found by the ALJ. See *Melendez v. Exxon Chem. Americas*, ARB No. 96-051, ALJ No. 1993-ERA-0006, slip op. at 7 n.8 (ARB July 14, 2000).

³ We use the following abbreviations: R. D. & O - Recommended Decision & Order; CX – Complainant’s Exhibit; RX – Respondents’ Exhibit; ALJX – Administrative Exhibit; T – Hearing Transcript; C. – Complainant; R. – Respondents.

Allen Parrott, at the time Klopfenstein's employment was terminated, was Flow's Vice President of Finance.⁴

B. In-Transit Inventory

In connection with his new duties after November 21, 2002, Klopfenstein became aware of a discrepancy in the in-transit inventory balances at PACO: the balance sheet accounts showed more prepaid inventory in transit from overseas than the shipping documents did. T. 314; R. D. & O. at 5. Although Klopfenstein did not believe the discrepancy amounted to "fraud," he believed that, if uncorrected, it would cause a material overstatement of Flow's assets and that correcting the overstatement would materially affect Flow's income for the period that the correction would take place. T. 314-319, 325; Complaint at 2.

Klopfenstein instructed his subordinate, Jessica George, a scheduling manager, to investigate the discrepancy. T. 315. George reported it to Mike Kerr, a sourcing agent for Flow Products, and to several people in Flow's finance department, including Parrott and Don Harris. *Id.* Harris was Flow's CFO. He reported to Parrott, and was also a personal friend of Parrott's. T. 240; C. Opp. To R. Motion for Summary Judgment, App. at 219. Parrott in turn reported to Holdings CFO Michael Jasperson, a personal friend who had recruited him into Flow Products. The finance department, which was responsible for keeping these accounts in order, twice informed Klopfenstein through George that it would address the problem.

The discrepancy continued, however. When the problem remained unresolved in early February 2003, Klopfenstein began placing footnotes regarding the discrepancy on PACO inventory reports he prepared for Holdings' weekly managers' meetings. T. 319; RX 3-5, 8-11. These meetings were attended by Holdings' President Wayne Robbins, who also was Executive Vice President of PCC. T. 318. Each footnote indicated that an in-transit inventory discrepancy needed to be reconciled. *Id.*⁵ Klopfenstein had attended the weekly meetings previously, but did not attend the meetings at which these footnotes might have been discussed.

⁴ Holdings is representing Parrott in these proceedings. For convenience, we refer to both together as the Respondents.

⁵ The first footnote, on the report prepared February 10, 2003, and distributed February 11, 2003, stated: "*Note: Results of Physical Inventory are not comprehended. Will resolve \$363k difference in In-transit inventory value by 2/14/03." RX 3. The second and third footnotes were virtually identical except that the date of projected resolution was changed to 2/21/03 on the two reports dated 2/17/03 and 2/24/03. RX 4, 5. Klopfenstein had apparently been given these dates of projected resolution from Parrott and the finance department. RX 12. A PACO inventory report dated 2/24/03, but distributed March 3, has only the first sentence and not the sentence about the in-transit inventory. RX 8. Finally, the reports prepared 3/10/03, 3/17/03, and 3/24/03 have footnotes stating "*Note: \$342k difference in in transit must be reconciled." RX 9, 10, 11.

Later in February, Debbie Kramer, an employee of PCC's finance department, was assigned to Houston to reconcile the in-transit inventory discrepancy. Reconciling meant matching each piece of inventory received to its purchase order. T. 553. The process was difficult because the receiving department at times did not attribute materials received to the correct purchase order, and sometimes altered earlier purchase orders to show more requested items, causing later purchase orders to appear unfilled even though the items in fact already had been received. T. 544.

Don Harris wrote Parrott on February 14, 2003 stating that inventory imbalances were a "large exposure" and therefore should be considered one of three remaining "snakes" to be resolved along with two other "large balance sheet clean-up items." CX 5. Leah Sanchez-Arnold, an accounts payable supervisor in Flow's finance department, performed a "true-up" in February in order to avoid a "material misstatement" of the accounts. T. 556, 560. Arnold testified that she believed that failing to address the in-transit inventory misstatements in some fashion would have created "a massive material misstatement" of Flow's balance sheet. T. 560. As Arnold explained it, in a true-up "We'll writeoff [sic] any differences and so forth, we'll come to the correct balance but [unlike with a reconciliation] we won't know as to exactly how that came about." T. 554. Thus, in contrast to the detailed reconciliation process that Kramer was performing, Arnold's true-up simply matched the total quantity of inventory received with total quantities of inventory ordered. In February Arnold calculated a discrepancy of approximately \$362,000, and her true-up resulted in a loss of \$204,000 worth of inventory that been incorrectly logged as inventory in transit. RX 73; T. 547-50, 561, 718; R. D. & O. at 6. \$9,715.66 could not be explained at all. *Id.*

At around the same time, outside auditors had concluded that the inventory imbalances were one of several significant problems that needed to be corrected. Parrott received a copy of the final auditors' report. RX 28.

The testimony did not make clear which department was actually responsible for the discrepancy. Klopfenstein apparently believed that the finance department was responsible. Arnold testified that the discrepancy was due to problems entering data through the new computer system. T. 541-542. Parrott testified that the discrepancy arose from problems with the operations department (run by Klopfenstein), most notably certain receiving practices, and Arnold agreed that some receiving practices made it more difficult to keep track of the inventory. T. 668, 544.

C. Revenue Recognition

PCC's revenue recognition policy recognized revenue only after product title

(and, thereby, risk of loss) had transferred to customers. CX 8 at 450.⁶ The policy applied to all subsidiaries of PCC, and Klopfenstein was aware of it. CX 1 at 130-137.

During her investigation of the in-transit inventory issue, Kramer learned from Kerr that some Flow Products inventory was being sent to or held at an off-site crating company, Coastal Crating, apparently in order to remove items from Flow's premises so that revenue could be recognized. For example "if they didn't have a shipping address for a customer but they wanted to be able to count the sale they were shipping it over to Coast[al] Crating [as if it were] a warehouse." T. 607. Kramer reported this information to her boss Shawn Hagel, PCC Vice President and Corporate Controller, and said she wanted to visit the crating company to verify Kerr's information. T. 607-08. Kramer subsequently informed Parrott of her plans for this visit. T. 527 (Kerr), 606-07; R. D. & O. at 6-7.

Kramer's visit uncovered a number of shipments that appeared designed to allow recognition of transactions in violation of the revenue recognition policy. Pursuant to instructions from Hagel, Kramer informed Parrott and then renewed her focus on the reconciliation work. RX 48. Parrott then visited Coastal himself, where he was told it was common knowledge that Flow Products sent items at the end of the month in order to recognize revenue. T. 672.⁷ He also visited a second crating company, which provided him with documents relating to Flow's past shipments. T. 673-74. Based upon Kramer's and Parrott's initial reports, Parrott was instructed by Jasperson to lead a team in investigating the circumstances when shipments were held at off site locations. R. D. & O. at 6.⁸

The two other team members were Kramer, and Eva Flores from Flow's Human Resources department. R. D. & O. at 17. Kramer went back through Flow's records and identified shipments made through Coastal Crating and Cargo Crating during the past year. She produced a spreadsheet showing shipments for which revenue appeared to

⁶ "Revenue is recognized when the product or service is complete, shipment is made to the customer and for sales of product to outside customers, title (and therefore risk of loss) has transferred to the customer."

⁷ The ALJ noted that Kramer, rather than Parrott, had been told this. R. D. & O. at 17. Kramer's testimony does not contain any evidence to support such a conclusion. T. 600-626.

⁸ Jasperson had been aware since the previous year that there was a potential issue regarding revenue recognition at Flow Products, because both a Price Waterhouse partner and Kathleen Matthews, an employee in PCC's finance department, previously had raised the issue to him. R. D. & O. at 16; T. 246-47. According to Jasperson, this and other information had caused him to identify Flow Products as a high-risk facility warranting closer controls. T. 248. Still, Jasperson talked to John Lilla, Holdings' Vice President for Human Resources and Risk Management, before deciding to instruct Parrott to investigate. T. 257-60.

have been recognized prematurely. RX 43; T. 614. Parrott wrote a report describing “an unauthorized change in established procedure” that was “directed by Keith Klopfenstein” and “not disclosed to senior management.” RX 45; T. 672-74, 676-77. Kramer and Flores reviewed the report before it was sent.

Parrott’s report began with a four-page section called “Flow Products Revenue Recognition Review.” This section provided details showing that Klopfenstein had changed one of PACO’s international shipping procedures and that revenue had been prematurely recognized on certain shipments. *Id.*; RX 45. The report described multiple shipments that appeared to violate the revenue recognition policy, such as shipments just before midnight of the end of the fiscal period that returned a few days later, including a shipment to and from a trucker’s home; shipments sent to couriers on the last night of the fiscal period when those couriers would not be able to process the shipments until the next period; and shipments on which revenue was recognized upon their leaving the plant, even though additional final packing still was needed. RX 45, 47-49; T. 197-204. The report indicated that revenue from such shipments had been improperly recorded as recognized even though risk of loss had not yet passed. *Id.*

The report also contained a one-page section called “Flow Products Inventory Issues Review.” RX 45. This section accused Klopfenstein of responsibility for the inventory imbalances, and of various instances of improper conduct. The accusations in this section included the following:

Keith Klopfenstein created a \$250K phantom material location; moved system records of material to this location Conspired and attempted to conceal his responsibility and association with this risk.... Directed subordinates to assist in this concealing effort Provided misleading answers to Finance when asked Directed subordinates to also mislead Finance regarding the transactions being played ... instructed his subordinate Jessica George to utilize her own Oracle logon to allow another employee (Cherry Patterson) to receive instruction on posting cycle adjustments ... instructed Doug Myers in March 2003 to create bogus work orders Misled CEO in quarterly reviews, falsely indicating that FP [Flow Products] has a cycle count program.

Klopfenstein provided evidence to counter these accusations, including both evidence explaining the reasons for these actions and evidence that Parrott was aware of and had approved some of these actions. No findings were made about the accuracy of these accusations.

Klopfenstein testified that he was aware that Parrott was involved in the investigation. T. 328. Klopfenstein also testified that at least one of the employees

Parrott had interviewed had told Klopfenstein that Parrott was “out to fire [Klopfenstein].” *Id.*

D. Termination of Klopfenstein’s Employment

On March 20, 2003 Parrott presented his report to Jasperson, Robbins, and John Lilla, Holdings’ Vice President for Human Resources and Risk Management. RX 34; R. D. & O. at 8. Later that day, Robbins, Jasperson, Lilla, Parrott, Flores and Kramer met with Jeff Conley, General Valve’s Manager of Marketing and Services, to discuss his involvement in the revenue recognition issues. T. 733-34; RX 18-22, 60. The next day the same group (except Conley) met with General Valve’s President John Hotz and then with Klopfenstein. T. 260-61; RX 18-22, 60.

Lilla’s handwritten notes of these four meetings indicate that both Conley and Hotz expressed confusion about revenue recognition issues. RX 60. In contrast, Lilla’s notes indicate that Klopfenstein said he understood the issue, and further indicate – as confirmed by Klopfenstein – that Klopfenstein said that in October 2002 he had instructed his staff to change a PACO practice regarding international shipping by recognizing revenue immediately after items left the plant in final form, rather than waiting for evidence of shipment in the form of shipping documents. T. 264-66; 287; 361-62; 683, 734. Klopfenstein testified that he told the senior managers that waiting for shipment documents was not a required part of the PCC policy and therefore his change was not intended to, and did not, change PCC’s policy on revenue recognition. Klopfenstein further testified that he told the senior managers that he had instructed his staff to recognize revenue only if an item that left the plant was “done-done,” and that by making the change to PACO’s practice, he had intended to better effectuate PCC’s policy by bringing PACO’s practice into line with the practices at General Valve and Johnston Pumps. T. 331-332.

Klopfenstein testified that he also denied many of the other allegations in the report. In particular, he said he denied being aware of or approving a shipment to a trucker’s home, or encouraging any other improper revenue recognition to occur, although he admitted some may have happened. Klopfenstein testified that when he “asked for specifics” regarding the various charges, “none were given” and he was therefore largely unable to defend himself against the specific allegations made. T. 374. Klopfenstein’s testimony did not indicate that he took the opportunity during the meeting to alert senior management to the retaliatory bias he now alleges Parrott had.⁹

⁹ Parrott’s employment was terminated not long after Klopfenstein’s was. The reason for the termination of Parrott’s employment was disputed, and no finding was made. Although Klopfenstein speculates that Parrott’s employment was terminated because Parrott had duped the company into firing Klopfenstein, Klopfenstein did not provide any testimony to this effect. Lilla denied the duping charge. C. Opp. To R. Motion for Summary Judgment, App. at 209. Jasperson testified that Parrott’s employment was terminated because Parrott was unable to provide the leadership needed to maintain the internal controls without a “tremendous amount of effort.” T. 275-76.

After the meeting with Klopfenstein and Parrott's team was over, Jasperson, Lilla and Robbins met to discuss the situation. Jasperson recommended that Robbins terminate Klopfenstein based on Klopfenstein's admission of having changed PACO's international shipping practice. T. 268. Robbins testified he had agreed with this recommendation "when we walked out of the meeting after K[lopfenstein] was there." T. 287. Lilla was not sure, however, and after discussion Robbins instructed Lilla to conduct his own investigation on the subjects covered in the team's report. T. 264-285. Robbins, Jasperson and Lilla also had at least one discussion with Mark Donegan (PCC CEO) and Bill Larsson (PCC CFO) about the proper course of action. T. 267-68.

Over the next few days, Lilla interviewed multiple people, including Parrott and some of the employees Parrott had interviewed, as well as some additional employees. (The record does not make clear who was interviewed only by Lilla.) Lilla did not interview Klopfenstein, however. After his investigation, Lilla concluded that the revenue recognition policy violations had occurred because of Klopfenstein's management style and practices, and so informed Robbins. T. 287, 736-38; RX 60; R. D. & O. at 8.

"On the recommendation of Jasperson ... based on information contained in the investigation report prepared by Parrott," Robbins then decided to terminate Klopfenstein's employment. R. D. & O. at 8; T. 265-68, 285-87.¹⁰ Donegan and Larsson concurred. R. D. & O. at 8; C. Opposition to R. Motion for Summary Judgment, App. at 227. Robbins and Lilla informed Klopfenstein of his discharge by telephone on April 7, 2003. Later that day, Lilla sent Klopfenstein a letter that confirmed the termination and stated that it was "for cause." RX 61.¹¹

¹⁰ Robbins testified that after Lilla indicated his uncertainty, Robbins "wanted to be fair" and therefore instructed Lilla to conduct an independent investigation. T. 287. In his deposition, Robbins said that after talking with Lilla he "felt that I wanted to have another follow-up, some interviews with John Lilla just to make sure that...I was comfortable with the action that I might have to take." C. Opposition to R. Motion for Summary Decision, App. at 169. Robbins further said that he had instructed Lilla to "reconfirm" Parrott's report. *Id.* at 170. After Lilla concurred with Parrott's report, Robbins had "two inputs that he trusted." T. 288. Based on these, Robbins made his final decision to terminate Klopfenstein's employment.

¹¹ The Respondents contend Klopfenstein's employment was terminated because he not only violated the revenue recognition policy but also intimidated his subordinates. R. Brief at 2. Klopfenstein presented evidence that other senior managers had engaged in similar behavior without being disciplined. Because the ALJ did not discuss the alleged intimidation, we also do not consider any role that intimidation may have played. Decision and Order Denying Summary Judgment (D. & O.) filed March 24, 2004, at 2.

E. Case History

Klopfenstein filed a complaint with the Occupational Safety & Health Administration (OSHA) on July 3, 2003. The complaint contended that “[t]he reasons for [his] firing given by Lilla were a pretext for the real motivation of the company and its representative, Parrott: Klopfenstein’s persistent reporting of the in-transit inventory discrepancy.” ALJX 1. After an investigation, OSHA concluded that the complaint lacked merit.

Klopfenstein objected to OSHA’s findings and requested a hearing. The Respondents moved for summary decision, arguing that neither Holdings nor Parrott were proper parties; that there were valid reasons to terminate Klopfenstein’s employment; and that Klopfenstein’s employment would have been terminated regardless whether he had engaged in any protected activity. *See* R. Motion for Summary Decision, filed Mar. 10, 2004, at 14, 16-22, 26.

The Respondents also argued that protected activity could not have contributed to the termination of Klopfenstein’s employment, for three reasons: “primarily...as no protected activity occurred”; second, because “[t]here is simply no evidence that the person who made the decision to discharge Klopfenstein had any knowledge” of any protected activity by Klopfenstein; and third, because “Respondent...had no animus regarding the reporting of such matters.” *Id.* at 24-25. As evidence for this third contention, the Respondents argued that Kerr already had reported the inventory imbalance to the “finance department” in mid- to late 2002, “well prior to any report of this issue by Klopfenstein”; that “Respondent’s finance department” began reconciling the discrepancy “well before any communication from Klopfenstein”; and that Kerr remained employed by Flow Products.¹²

Klopfenstein opposed summary decision, contending that Holdings and Parrott were proper parties and that the termination of Klopfenstein’s employment was in retaliation for engaging in activity protected by the SOX. *See* C. Opposition to R. Motion for Summary Decision, filed Mar. 17, 2004, at 2-3. Klopfenstein contended that protected activity was a contributing factor because Parrott, who had influenced the investigation and decision process, had discriminatory animus against Klopfenstein based on Klopfenstein’s “reporting, outside [Flow Products] finance department, the serious in-transit inventory discrepancies that the finance department had allowed to exist, failed to resolve, and tried to cover up.” *Id.* at 3.

¹² Although the motion referred to “Respondent’s” finance department, and the named corporate respondent was Holdings, Kerr’s affidavit actually stated that he had communicated with “finance” about items in transit with “the company,” and that “the company finance department” began reconciling the discrepancy. *Id.*, Exhibit E at 2. Therefore, it appears Kerr likely reported the issue to Flow’s finance department rather than PCC’s.

The ALJ denied summary decision, concluding that “[t]here are sufficient facts to suggest that as either a wholly owned subsidiary or as an agent of the Precision Castparts Corp., both PCC Flow Technology Holding [sic], Inc., and by the same token, Allen Parrott, are proper parties to the complaint under the Act.” D. & O. at 4. The ALJ also concluded that Klopfenstein “provided sufficient evidence to demonstrate that the determination of the merits of his claim rest [sic] on facts in issue and not solely on the law.” *Id.* at 6.

The ALJ conducted a hearing on April 5 and 6, 2004, and issued his R. D. & O. on July 6, 2004. As detailed below, the ALJ concluded that neither of the Respondents was subject to the whistleblower provisions of the SOX. R. D. & O. at 12-13, 19. The ALJ made no findings regarding protected activity and knowledge. (The ALJ apparently believed such findings were not necessary after a hearing had been held. R. D. & O. at 13-14.¹³) Finally, the ALJ held that Klopfenstein “failed to establish a case for retaliation under the Act.” R. D. & O. at 19. Klopfenstein timely appealed to this Board.

ISSUES

The issues before the Board in this case are:

- (1) Whether the ALJ erred in concluding that Holdings and/or Parrott were not covered parties under Act;
- (2) Whether the ALJ erred in failing to determine whether Klopfenstein engaged in activity protected by the Act;
- (3) Whether the ALJ erred in failing to determine whether the decision-makers or those who influenced them had knowledge of any protected activity of Klopfenstein’s; and
- (4) Whether the ALJ erred in analyzing whether any such protected activity was a contributing factor in the termination of Klopfenstein’s employment.

JURISDICTION AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Secretary of Labor has delegated to the Administrative Review Board (ARB or the Board) her authority to issue final agency decisions under the SOX. *See* Secretary’s Order 1-2002 (Delegation of Authority and Responsibility to the Administrative Review Board), 67 Fed. Reg. 64272 (Oct. 17, 2002); *see also* 29 C.F.R. § 1980.110.

¹³ See note 19, *infra*.

Pursuant to the SOX and its implementing regulations, the Board reviews the ALJ's factual determinations using the substantial evidence standard. *See* 29 C.F.R. § 1980.110(b). Substantial evidence is “more than a mere scintilla. It means such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.” *Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB*, 340 U.S. 474, 477 (1951) (quoting *Consolidated Edison Co. v. NLRB*, 305 U.S. 197, 229 (1938)); *see also Lyninger v. Casazza Trucking Co.*, ARB No. 02-113, No. 2001-STA-38 (ARB Feb. 19, 2004). In assessing the substantiality of evidence, we “must take into account whatever in the record fairly detracts from its weight.” *Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB*, 340 U.S. 474, 488 (1951). We must uphold an ALJ's factual determination that is supported by substantial evidence even if there is also substantial evidence for the other party, and even if we “would justifiably have made a different choice had the matter been before us de novo.” *Id.*

In reviewing the ALJ's conclusions of law the Board, as the designee of the Secretary, acts with “all the powers [the Secretary] would have in making the initial decision” 5 U.S.C.A. § 557(b) (West 1996). Therefore, the Board reviews the ALJ's conclusions of law de novo. *Cf. Yellow Freight Sys., Inc. v. Reich*, 8 F.3d 980, 986 (4th Cir. 1993) (analogous provision of Surface Transportation Assistance Act); *Roadway Express, Inc. v. Dole*, 929 F.2d 1060, 1066 (5th Cir. 1991) (same).

DISCUSSION

A. Governing Law

The employee protection provision of the SOX generally prohibits covered employers and individuals from retaliating against employees for providing information or assisting in investigations related to violations of listed laws and SEC rules. Specifically, that provision provides as follows:

(a) Whistleblower Protection For Employees Of Publicly Traded Companies.— No company with a class of securities registered under section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78l), or that is required to file reports under section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78o(d)), or any officer, employee, contractor, subcontractor, or agent of such company, may discharge, demote, suspend, threaten, harass, or in any other manner discriminate against an employee in the terms and conditions of employment because of any lawful act done by the employee—

(1) to provide information, cause information to be provided, or otherwise assist in an investigation regarding any conduct which the employee reasonably believes

constitutes a violation of section 1341, 1343, 1344, or 1348, any rule or regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any provision of Federal law relating to fraud against shareholders, when the information or assistance is provided to or the investigation is conducted by—

- (A) a Federal regulatory or law enforcement agency;
- (B) any Member of Congress or any committee of Congress; or
- (C) a person with supervisory authority over the employee (or such other person working for the employer who has the authority to investigate, discover, or terminate misconduct); or

(2) to file, cause to be filed, testify, participate in, or otherwise assist in a proceeding filed or about to be filed (with any knowledge of the employer) relating to an alleged violation of section 1341, 1343, 1344, or 1348, any rule or regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any provision of Federal law relating to fraud against shareholders.

18 U.S.C.A. § 1514A.

Actions brought pursuant to the SOX are governed by the legal burdens of proof set forth in the employee protection provision of the Wendell H. Ford Aviation Investment and Reform Act for the 21st Century, (AIR 21), 49 U.S.C.A. § 42121 (West Supp. 2005). 18 U.S.C.A. § 1514A(b)(2)(C). Accordingly, to prevail, a SOX complainant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that: (1) he engaged in a protected activity or conduct; (2) the respondent knew that he engaged in the protected activity; (3) he suffered an unfavorable personnel action; and (4) the protected activity was a contributing factor in the unfavorable action. *See Getman v. Southwest Sec., Inc.*, ARB No. 04-059, ALJ No. 2003-SOX-8, slip op. at 8 (ARB July 29, 2005); AIR 21, § 42121(a)-(b)(2)(B)(iii)-(iv); *see also Peck v. Safe Air Int'l, Inc. d/b/a Island Express*, ARB No. 02-028, ALJ No. 2001-AIR-3, slip op. at 6-10 (ARB Jan. 30, 2004). *Cf.* 29 C.F.R. § 1980.104(b) (investigation). If the complainant succeeds in establishing that protected activity was a contributing factor, then the respondent still can avoid liability by demonstrating by clear and convincing evidence that it would have taken the same unfavorable personnel action in the absence of the protected activity. *See Getman*, slip op. at 8; § 42121(a)-(b)(2)(B)(iv); *Peck*, slip op. at 10. *Cf.* § 1980.104(c).

B. Coverage

Klopfenstein argues that Holdings and Parrott were agents of PCC, that agents can be named respondents in a SOX case, and therefore that the ALJ erred in finding that they were not proper parties. C. Brief at 11-14; *see also* 18 U.S.C.A. § 1514A (a) ((SOX applies to any public “company ...or any...agent of such company). The Respondents argue that we should affirm the ALJ’s decisions about Holdings and Parrott because they were conclusions of fact supported by substantial evidence. R. Brief at 11-13.

The ALJ held that neither Holdings nor Parrott were “subject to the provisions of” the SOX. R. D. & O. at 19. With regard to Holdings, he concluded both that “it does not seem the Act provides a cause of action against [a non-public] subsidiary,” and that Holdings was not an agent of PCC and thus could not be subject to liability as a company representative. R. D. & O. at 12. With regard to Parrott, the ALJ explained that “Parrott was no agent of PCC. He was an employee of Flow Products [supervised] by Holdings management.” *Id.* at 13.

The ALJ relied upon our decision in *Flake v. New World Pasta Co.*, ARB No. 03-126, ALJ No. 2003-SOX-18 (ARB Feb. 25, 2004) to conclude that the Act does not provide a cause of action against a non-public subsidiary. *See* R. D. & O. at 12. But *Flake* does not support this conclusion. The complainant in *Flake* named one respondent: a company that was neither registered under § 12 of the Securities Exchange Act nor, as we determined, required to file reports under § 15(d). That respondent company did not have a public parent. Because we concluded that the company was not required to file under either provision, we held that it was not subject to the Act, noting that “the whistleblower provisions of [the Act] cover only companies with securities registered under § 12 or companies required to file reports under § 15(d) of the Exchange Act.” *Flake*, slip op. at 4. Because there was no public parent involved, we did not have occasion to discuss whether a non-public *subsidiary of a public parent* could be covered under the Act. Nor need we do so here, in light of our other conclusions.

With regard to the suggestion that PCC was the only possible corporate party because employers cannot be “subject to the employee protection provision” unless they themselves “meet [the] statutory criteria,” R. D. & O. at 12, we note that an agent is not generally relieved of liability for an unlawful act merely by virtue of such agent status. *See* Rest. 2d Agen. § 343. The Act prohibits an agent from discriminating against an employee who engages in protected activity, and Holdings offers no persuasive reason why we should not allow a cause of action against an agent who does so. Therefore, we do not interpret the Act to require a complainant to name a corporate respondent that is itself “registered under § 12 or ... required to file reports under § 15(d),” so long as the complainant names at least one respondent who is covered under the Act as an “officer, employee, contractor, subcontractor, or agent” of such a company.

Finally, *Flake* also does not stand for the proposition that a subsidiary cannot by definition be an agent. Nothing in *Flake*, the Act, the interim and final regulations, and

the common meaning of the term “agent” gives us reason to conclude that a subsidiary, or an employee of a subsidiary, cannot *ever* be a parent’s agent for purposes of the employee protection provision.¹⁴

Whether a particular subsidiary or its employee is an agent of a public parent for purposes of the SOX employee protection provision should be determined according to principles of the general common law of agency.¹⁵ General common law principles of agency are set forth in the Restatement of Agency, a “useful beginning point for a discussion of general agency principles.”¹⁶ Although it is a *legal concept*, “agency depends upon the existence of required *factual elements*: the manifestation by the principal that the agent shall act for him, the agent’s acceptance of the undertaking and the understanding of the parties that the principal is to be in control.” Rest. 2d Agen. §

¹⁴ See 18 U.S.C.A. § 1514A (a); 29 C.F.R. Part 1980; 69 Fed. Reg. 52104 (Final Rule); 68 Fed. Reg. 31860 (Interim Rule); Mirriam Webster Online (definition 3 (“a means or instrument by which a guiding intelligence achieves a result”) and definition 4 (“one who is authorized to act for or in the place of another”)); Black’s Law Dictionary, 8th ed. (Agent means “2: One who is authorized to act for or in place of another; a representative”).

¹⁵ “The starting point for our interpretation of a statute is always its language.” *Community for Creative Non-Violence v. Reid*, 490 U.S. 730, 739 (1989) (citing *Consumer Prod. Safety Comm’n v. GTE Sylvania, Inc.*, 447 U.S. 102, 108 (1980)). The SOX does not define the term “agent,” and it is “well established that [w]here Congress uses terms that have accumulated settled meaning under ... the common law, a court must infer, unless the statute otherwise dictates, that Congress means to incorporate the established meaning of these terms.” *Id.* (citing *NLRB v. Amax Coal Co.*, 453 U.S. 322, 329 (1981)). We conclude that Congress intended us to incorporate the common-law meaning of the term “agent” in our interpretation of the SOX. *Cf. id.* at 741 (the term ‘employee’ in Title VII should be understood in light of the common law of agency”), 740 (“when Congress has used the term ‘employee’ without defining it, we have concluded that Congress intended to describe the conventional master-servant relationship as understood by common-law agency doctrine”); *see also Meritor Savs. Bank v. Vinson*, 477 U.S. 57, 72 (1986) (in Title VII context, “Congress’ decision to define ‘employer’ to include any agent of an employer” means that “Congress wanted courts to look to agency principles for guidance in this area,” though “such common-law principles may not be transferable in all their particulars to Title VII”). We further conclude that Congress intended us to rely upon principles of the “general common law of agency” to give meaning to this term, because “federal statutes are generally intended to have uniform nationwide application.” *Reid* at 740.

¹⁶ *Burlington v. Ellerth*, 524 U.S. 742, 755 (citing *Meritor*, 477 U.S. at 72). The Restatement (Second) of Agency defines agency as “the fiduciary relationship which results from the manifestation of consent by one person to another that the other shall act on his behalf and subject to his control, and consent by the other so to act.” Rest. 2d. Agen. § 1; *see also* Rest. 3d. Agen. § 1.01 (draft approved, publication expected 2006). The person “for whom action is to be taken is the principal” and “the one who is to act is the agent.” Rest. 2d. Agen. § 1.

1(1), comment *b*. The function of the ALJ is to ascertain whether these factual elements are present. The ALJ did not do so in this case, however, possibly because he did not begin by examining the legal standard for identifying the existence and scope of an agency relationship. *See* R. D. & O. at 11-13.

The ALJ reasoned that Holdings was not an agent of PCC because it had “overlapping officers” with PCC and because “it was as much, if not more, the actions of PCC’s management that led to the decision to terminate Complainant than it was Holdings.... In other words, neither the facts here nor the commonality of management support an agent relationship within the meaning of the Act.” *Id.* But neither of these facts precludes the existence of an agency relationship. Indeed, because one characteristic of an agent is that it acts on behalf of the principal, both the overlapping officers between PCC and Holdings, and the involvement of PCC officers and employees in overseeing and approving Holdings’ investigation, make more probable that Holdings was PCC’s agent.

We note that Robbins, who made the decision to terminate Klopfenstein’s employment, was both President of Holdings and Executive Vice President of PCC. As an officer of PCC, Robbins was its general agent, and thus almost certainly was an agent of PCC with regard to the termination of Klopfenstein’s employment.¹⁷ As President of Holdings, Robbins was “indisputably within that class of an employer organization’s officials who may be treated as the organization’s proxy.”¹⁸ Putting these two concepts together, it is hard to imagine that Holdings was not PCC’s agent for purposes of the termination of Klopfenstein’s employment. Indeed, in the face of Klopfenstein’s arguments on appeal that the ALJ erred in so concluding, Holdings does not appear to have provided any counter-argument relating to Holdings’ possible status as an agent. *See* R. Brief at 11-12.

Turning to Parrott, the ALJ found it important that “[Parrott] did not work for either Holdings or PCC.” R. D. & O. at 13. But the ALJ also noted that Parrott was “asked by Holdings management to investigate revenue recognition violations,” and that

¹⁷ A corporation’s officer is generally considered a general agent of that corporation. *See* Rest. 2d § 14C; *see also* Rest. 3d § 1.01, comment *c* (draft approved, publication expected 2006). We further note that, although Klopfenstein did not name him as an individual respondent, Robbins was himself a covered individual, by definition. *See* 18 U.S.C.A. § 1514A(a) (Act covers any “company with a class of securities registered under section 12” and “any *officer*, employee, contractor, subcontractor, or agent of such company”) (emphasis added).

¹⁸ *Faragher v. City of Boca Raton*, 524 U.S. 775, 789 (citing *Torres v. Pisano*, 116 F.3d 625, 634-35 and n.11 (2d Cir. 1997), for proposition that “a supervisor may hold a sufficiently high position ‘in the management hierarchy of the company for his actions to be imputed automatically to the employer’”); *see also Ellerth*, 524 U.S. at 758 (“the agent’s high rank in the company makes him or her the employer’s alter ego”).

Parrott was directed by Jasperson (Holdings' CFO), who acted in consultation with Larrison (PCC's CFO). In addition, there is evidence in the record that Hagel (PCC's Vice President and Corporate Controller) was directly managing Parrott with regard to the revenue recognition investigation. *See, e.g.*, RX 50. Thus, it appears quite possible that Parrott was acting as PCC's agent in *investigating* Klopfenstein, whether or not he was PCC's agent in other duties. To be covered under the Act, of course, an individual must not only be an agent of a public company, but also must "discharge, demote, suspend, threaten, harass, or in any other manner discriminate against an employee in the terms and conditions of employment." 18 U.S.C.A. § 1514A(a). Although the ALJ noted that Parrott did not have "the privilege of discharging, [etc.]" Klopfenstein, this statement was not in the findings of fact section and the ALJ did not indicate that we should take it as a factual finding. It is possible that Parrott's influence on the investigation is evidence that Parrott did have the ability to affect the terms of Klopfenstein's employment. (Whether any such effect may have constituted discrimination is addressed below in the section discussing causation.) This possibility may bear further examination.

On remand, the ALJ should make whatever factual findings are necessary to properly apply agency principles in determining whether either or both of Holdings and Parrott were PCC's agents with regard to the termination of Klopfenstein's employment. We also leave it to the ALJ to determine whether to grant Klopfenstein's motion to add PCC as a party.

C. Merits

To prevail, Klopfenstein must prove all elements of his claim, including unfavorable personnel action, protected activity, knowledge and causation.

1. Unfavorable personnel action

The parties do not dispute that Klopfenstein suffered an unfavorable personnel action when his employment was terminated on April 7, 2003.

2. Protected activity

Klopfenstein contends that he engaged in protected activity when he "discovered and persisted in reporting a material irregularity in the accounting for in-transit inventory." C. Brief at 1. The Respondents argue that these communications were not protected because Klopfenstein admitted he did not believe that the inventory imbalance amounted to fraud, and in any case the footnotes were not specific enough to be protected. R. Brief at 15. The ALJ did not reach a conclusion as to whether Klopfenstein had engaged in protected activity. Nor did he make any preliminary findings: for example, whether Klopfenstein had a reasonable belief that the in-transit inventory imbalance reflected a covered violation, and whether his activities in raising the issue

were sufficient to “express” his concern.¹⁹ *Cf. Knox v. United States Dep’t of the Interior*, ARB No. 06-089, ALJ No. 2001-CAA-3, slip op. at 5 (ARB Apr. 28, 2006), (The ARB finds protected activity when a complainant both has a reasonable belief in his concern, and “expresses” that concern).

Because of our decision to remand, we need not determine now whether Klopfenstein engaged in protected activity. We note, however, that contrary to the Respondents’ arguments, we do not believe that activity is protected only when the complainant is the first to raise the issue, or when the communications relate to published information, or when the complainant believes he is reporting “fraud.” SOX protection applies to the provision of information regarding not just fraud, but also “violation of ... any rule or regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission.” 18 U.S.C.A. § 1514A(a)(1). In addition, we do not believe Klopfenstein’s failure to express his concern either in his Ethics report, or in the March 21 meeting that preceded the termination of his employment, requires the conclusion that no protected activity took place. A complainant need not express a concern in every possible way or at every possible time in order to receive protection, so long as the complainant’s actual communications “provide information, cause information to be provided, or otherwise assist in an investigation” regarding a covered violation. 18 U.S.C.A. § 1514A(a)(1).

It certainly is possible that Klopfenstein engaged in protected activity. The problems with PACO’s in-transit inventory suggested, at a minimum, incompetence in Flow’s internal controls that could affect the accuracy of its financial statements. *See* T. 716-717; RX 28. Klopfenstein’s communications thus related to a general subject that was not clearly outside the realm covered by the SOX, and it certainly is possible that Klopfenstein could have believed that the problems were a deficiency amounting to a “violation.” *See, e.g., Collins v. Beazer Homes USA Inc.*, 334 F. Supp.2d 1365, 1378 (N.D. Ga. 2004) (holding that “allegations ... of violations of the company’s internal accounting controls ... were within the zone of protection afforded by” the SOX). On the other hand, it is possible that Klopfenstein did not engage in protected activity. For example, was Klopfenstein reasonable in believing that his concern about the inventory accounting related to a violation of a SOX-listed law or rule?²⁰ In light of his position,

¹⁹ The ALJ reasoned that “[o]nce Respondent has produced sufficient evidence in an attempt to show that Complainant was subjected to adverse action for a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason, it no longer serves an analytical purpose to answer the question whether Complainant presented a prima facie case. Instead, the relevant inquiry is whether the Complainant prevailed by a preponderance of the evidence on the ultimate question of liability.” R. D. & O. at 13-14. While we agree that the prima facie case generally becomes irrelevant after a full hearing has been held, we emphasize that a complainant still must prove all elements of the case to prevail. Our review is facilitated if the ALJ makes findings on all contested elements.

²⁰ Klopfenstein argues that the applicable rule is 13a-15a, which requires issuers – i.e., public companies such as PCC – to maintain “disclosure controls and procedures” and “internal control over financial reports.” C. Brief at 3. The ALJ should examine this rule,

did his activity suffice to “express” his concern and count as the “provision” of “information”?

Because of our decision to remand, we need not decide these questions here. On remand the ALJ should address those questions that are necessary to reach a decision on whether Klopfenstein engaged in protected activity.

3. *Knowledge*

In denying summary judgment, the ALJ had concluded that Klopfenstein had presented sufficient evidence to raise an issue of material fact as to whether any decision-maker – most obviously, Robbins – knew of any protected activity of Klopfenstein’s. D. & O. at 6. As noted above, however, the ALJ failed to reach a conclusion as to whether any decision-maker had knowledge of any such protected activity. It is not clear from the briefs whether the issue of knowledge remains disputed. *See* R. Brief at 9 (arguing only that Klopfenstein did not bring up the in-transit inventory issue during the March 21, 2003 meeting or the April 7, 2003 telephone call during which Klopfenstein was informed of his discharge). On remand, if a dispute remains, then the ALJ should resolve this factual issue. In so doing, the ALJ may need to make findings on whether knowledge should be imputed to a decision-maker based on knowledge held by other relevant persons.

4. *Causation*

Klopfenstein argues that the ALJ erred by applying the wrong legal standard, and that application of the correct standard would lead to a judgment in his favor. *See* C. Rebuttal at 8-9; C. Brief at 4, 7. We agree with the first half of Klopfenstein’s argument, and leave it for the ALJ to make a judgment about the remainder.

Under the SOX, the correct standard is whether protected activity was a *contributing* factor in Klopfenstein’s termination. *See Getman*, slip op. at 8; AIR 21, § 42121(a)-(b)(2)(B)(iii)-(iv); *Halloum v. Intel*, ARB No. 04-068, ALJ No. 2003-SOX-7 (Jan. 31, 2006), slip op. at 8 (SOX complainant need not show protected activity was *primary* motivating factor in order to establish causation). A contributing factor is “any factor, which alone or in combination with other factors, tends to affect in any way the outcome of the decision.” *Marano v. Department of Justice*, 2 F.3d 1137, 1140 (Fed. Cir. 1993) (interpreting the Whistleblower Protection Act, 5 U.S.C.A. § 1221(e)(1)). As *Marano* explains, the contributing factor standard was “intended to overrule existing case law, which requires a whistleblower to prove that his protected conduct was a ‘significant,’ ‘motivating,’ ‘substantial,’ or ‘predominant’ factor in a personnel action in order to overturn that action.” *Id.*

and any others Klopfenstein may have raised, in determining whether the problems Klopfenstein identified with Flow’s inventory accounting could support a reasonable belief by Klopfenstein that the SEC rule Klopfenstein cites could have been violated.

Because, in examining causation, the “ultimate question” is whether the complainant has proven that protected activity was a contributing factor in his termination, a complainant need not necessarily prove that the respondent’s articulated reason was a pretext in order to prevail. Of course, most complainants will likely attempt to prove pretext, because successfully doing so provides a highly useful piece of circumstantial evidence.²¹ But a complainant is not *required* to prove pretext, because a complainant alternatively can prevail by showing “that the defendant’s reason, while true, is only one of the reasons for its conduct, and another ‘motivating factor’ is the plaintiff’s protected characteristic.” *Rachid v. Jack in the Box, Inc.*, 376 F.3d 305, 312 (5th Cir. 2004).²²

The ALJ did not apply the SOX’s contributing factor standard. Instead, he applied some higher standard – it is not clear which one. First, the ALJ stated that Klopfenstein had to prove that Holdings’ actions were “*based on* discriminatory motive.” R. D. & O. at 14 (emphasis added). Then, the ALJ concluded that protected activity did not “play[] a role in management’s decision to terminate [Klopfenstein’s employment]. In other words ... Complainant has not demonstrated ... that he was fired *because of*” his activity.” R. D. & O. at 15 (emphasis added). Finally, the ALJ stated that “there has been insufficient evidence offered to prove that *the motivation* to terminate was discriminatory.” R. D. & O. at 18 (emphasis added). Although the phrase “play a role” is ambiguous and could potentially be read as shorthand for the contributing factor standard, we do not believe it should be so understood in this case, because to do so would be inconsistent with the other formulations used, each of which had the effect of

²¹ A complainant who does not prove pretext loses the opportunity to use the falsity of the respondent’s explanation as evidence of discrimination, although the complainant still can use as evidence the totality of the circumstances – including temporal proximity between a protected act and an unfavorable action, and “all evidence pertinent to the mindset of the employer and its agents.” *Timmons v. Mattingly Testing Servs.*, 95-ERA-40, slip op. at 5 (ARB June 21, 1996). See *Desert Palace v. Costa*, 539 U.S. 90, 100-102 (2003) (for mixed-motive jury instruction, plaintiff need not present “direct” evidence so long as plaintiff presents “sufficient” evidence for jury to conclude that protected status was a motivating factor in unfavorable employment action).

²² See also *Getman*, slip op. at 8 (SOX complainant must prove that protected activity was “a” contributing factor); *Peck*, slip op. at 6-10 (same, AIR 21); *Kester v. Carolina Power & Light Co.*, ARB No. 02-007, ALJ No. 2000-ERA-31, slip op. at 8 (ARB Sept. 30, 2003) (ERA complainant must prove that Respondent “fired him *in part* because of his protected activity”) (emphasis added); *Shirani v. ComEd/Exelon Corp.*, ARB No. 03-100, ALJ No. 02-ERA-28, slip op. at 11 n.3 (ARB Sept. 30, 2005) (ERA “complainant must only show that the protected activity ‘was a contributing factor in the unfavorable personnel action alleged in the complaint’” and need not show that such activity was “the likely reason” for the adverse action) (emphasis added); cf. *Richardson v. Monitronics, Inc.*, 434 F.3d 327, 333 (5th Cir. 2005) (same, FMLA retaliatory discharge).

requiring Klopfenstein to prove more than he needed to under the “contributing factor” standard.²³ Indeed, the use of the phrase “*the* motivation” suggests that Klopfenstein was required to prove that protected activity was “the” reason for the termination. This is clearly erroneous when, as we have stated, under the correct standard a complainant need prove that protected activity contributed only *in part* to the unfavorable personnel action.²⁴

The ALJ also erroneously stated that Klopfenstein’s ultimate burden – to prove retaliation by a preponderance of the evidence – included the “burden ... to demonstrate that Respondent’s proffered motivation was not its true reason but is pretextual.” R. D. & O. at 14. For reasons explained above, the ALJ should not have *required* Klopfenstein to prove pretext. On remand, if the ALJ determines that Klopfenstein has failed to prove pretext, then the ALJ may rely on such failure in drawing the conclusion that Klopfenstein has failed to provide sufficient evidence to prove his case by a preponderance of the evidence.

The ultimate question whether an action was taken due to “retaliatory motive is a legal conclusion.” *Timmons*, slip op. at 5. Thus although in reviews under the SOX we give substantial deference to factual findings, we cannot necessarily rely upon factual findings made under the wrong legal standard. *See, e.g., Mackowiak v. Univ. Nuclear Sys, Inc.*, 735 F.2d 1159, 1164 (9th Cir. 1984). It is not clear which, if any, of the factual

²³ Our conclusion that “play a role” cannot here be interpreted as such shorthand is also based upon the ALJ’s erroneous statement of the standard when describing to the parties, at the close of the hearing, the analysis he was about to undertake:

[T]he burden does shift back and forth. He makes out a prima facie case, then they show there’s another contributing factor to his termination, and then it falls back upon the Respondent [sic] to demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that that’s a pretext, that he was terminated solely for having engaged in a protected activity.

T. 757.

²⁴ These two errors also give rise to concern about the ALJ’s final conclusion that “the same unfavorable personnel action would have been taken in the absence of any protected behavior on Complainant’s part.” R. D. & O. at 18. The ALJ did not indicate whether this final conclusion was supported by clear and convincing evidence, and did not indicate that the Respondents had the burden in this regard. Perhaps more significantly, this final conclusion was premised on the ALJ’s earlier conclusion that protected activity did not “play a role” – but, as we have explained, the ALJ apparently believed that in order for protected activity to “play a role” it had to be *the motivation* for the action. It is possible that if the ALJ had applied the correct standard, he would have determined that protected activity, while not “the” motivation, nonetheless was *a contributing* factor. If so, then it is possible that, recognizing that protected activity was a contributing factor, he might not have found that the same action would have been taken.

statements made in the “Discussion and Conclusions of Law” section may have been premised on the wrong contributing factor standard. Therefore, we believe that remanding is a better course of action than attempting to parse through the various statements in the opinion to determine which, if any, might support a determination on the ultimate question.

To facilitate resolution of the case on remand, it would be helpful for the ALJ to make additional credibility determinations and findings of facts and to address any inconsistencies in the testimony where those are necessary in order to make such findings. For example, the ALJ should make clear whether he found credible Lilla’s testimony regarding the reason Klopfenstein’s proffered comparators were not fired. *See R. D. & O.* at 17-18. The ALJ also should explain the inconsistency between his conclusion that Parrott “did not provide *any input* into the ultimate decision to discharge Complainant,” and his statements that Robbins relied upon Parrott’s report in making the decision, and that Parrott was asked whether Klopfenstein should be discharged. *See R. D. & O.* at 8, 19 (emphasis added). In addition, if the ALJ analyzes temporal proximity, he should consider the time gap between Klopfenstein’s termination and any protected activity in which Klopfenstein may have engaged, keeping in mind that protected activity must include expression of a concern and not just its existence.

CONCLUSION

The ALJ did not use the correct analysis when determining whether Holdings and Parrott were covered under the SOX. The ALJ did not make any findings as to whether Klopfenstein engaged in protected activity and whether any decision-maker had knowledge of any such activity. And the ALJ applied too high a standard on the “ultimate question” of retaliation – making us unwilling to rely upon the conclusions he reached regarding that element. In sum, the ALJ did not provide determinations based on relevant facts and applicable law on any of the four contested elements. Because of the number of factual findings that may be needed, and the possibility that at least some of these would be better made by someone who has had the opportunity to assess the credibility of the witnesses, we conclude that the best course of action is to return this matter to the ALJ for appropriate findings and recommendations based upon the correct legal standards. We therefore **REMAND** Klopfenstein’s complaint for further proceedings consistent with this opinion.

SO ORDERED.

A. LOUISE OLIVER
Administrative Appeals Judge

WAYNE C. BEYER
Administrative Appeals Judge

M. CYNTHIA DOUGLASS
Chief Administrative Appeals Judge